THE INTERNATIONAL TELEPHONE AND
TELEGRAPH COMPANY AND CHILE, 197077

TO THE
UNITED STATES SENATE

BY THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON MULTINATIONAL
~ CORPORATIONS

- JUNE 21, 1973

Printed for the use of the Committee on Foreig'n Relations

U.S. GOVERNMENT, PRINTING OFFICI
05-704 - WASHINGTON : 1973



COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN RELATIONS

| J. W. FULBRIGHT Arka.nsas Ghazrman |
‘JOHN SPARKMAN, ‘Alabama GEORGE D. AIKEN, Vermont

MIKE MANSFIELD Montana - .- CLIFFORD P. CASE, New Jersey
'FRANK CHURCH, Idaho  JACOB K. JAVITS, New York
STUART SYMINGTON, Missourli ~ HUGH SCOTT, Pennsylvauia |
CLAIBORNE PELL Rhﬁde Island '+ " .JAMES B. PEARSON, Kansas °
GALE W. MCGEE, Wyoming CHARLES H. PERCY, Illinois
EDMUND 8. MUSKIE, Maine  ~~ = = = ROBEBTP GRIFFIﬁg"-Michigau

GEORGE 8. McGOVERN,; South Dakota
HUBERT H, HUMPHREY Minnesota

CARL MARC‘R’ C‘h@ef oj Staﬂ' o
- " ARTHUR M. K'C!HEL Chief Cler B e

[ P

. R p T
. S S .

SUBCOMMITTEE ON MULTINATIONAL COEPORATIONS

FRANK CHURCH Idaho, Chairman |
STUART SYMINGTON, Missouri CLITRFORD P. CASE, New Jersey
EDMUND S. MUSKIE Maine CHARLES H. PERCY, Illinois

JEROME LEVINSON, Chief Counsel
JACK BLUM Assocmtﬁ Counsel

-$ -e'-".-' _'__J;-.- I--

(NGTE —References to appendices refer ‘tta hea:rm% which will be published soon.)

o -

M | l- .
[T Yol
f-:- e

'I._



CONTENTNS

A, Introduction o e e e e
B. The bhearing record: |

Synopsis of Chilean Presidential Election o ___
Part I. The period preceding the popular election of Septem-
ber 4, 1970 : |
McCone and Helms—May-June 1970 _____
Geneen and Broe—July 16, 1970 o
Part II. The period between September 4 and the congressional
election of October 24, 1970: |
The Alessandri formula_._._;___._.__.._- ________________________
The million dollar offer_ . ___ e e s
Hendrix and Berrellez in Santiago o oo
Contracts between the ITT Washington office and the CIA___
Broe and Gerrity—September 29, 1970 o
The banks—A diverse reaetwn_......._._.-._._-__._..__*_._.._._.___._u._;._.
Part 111. Allende in power : - | |
The ad hoc committee 011 Chile_
The Company’s stake and negotiations—__ . _____
The October 1, 1971, letter to Peterson. . _.___.___ S
Publication of the Anderson columns and the breakoﬂ of
negotiations oo
The board of directorsof 1T

Q. Gonclusmna ______________________________________________________

The OPIC guarantee . . e e e

U.8. Government poliCy e e
The Forty Committee, clandestine ﬁperatwns of the CIA, and

multinational corporations_ . e
) (I1I) | |

oD

O W00 H

11

13
14

15
16
16
18
19

20



IHE INTERNATIONAL TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH
- ' COMPANY AND CHILE, 1970-71

A. INTRODUCTION

On March 21, 1972, syndicated columnist Jack Anderson wrote that
the International Telephone and Telegraph Corporation was involved
in “a bizarre plot to stop the 1970 election of leftist Chilean President
Salvador Allende.” Mr. Anderson further alleged that the company
was in regular contact with the Central Intelligence Agency and that
the Agency participated in the plot. His allegations were based on
documents he had obtained from the corporation’s files.

- Following the publication of the Anderson columns, the Senate
Foreign Relations Committee asserted its paramount jurisdiction over
“intervention abroad” and voted to investigate the allegations. At the
same time, the Committee voted to establish a Subcommittee on Multi-
national Corporations and directed the Subcommittee to undertake a
broad study of multinational corporations and their impact on Ameri-
can forelgn policy.

The Subcommittee was asked to make the investigation of the
Anderson allegations its first order of business. IFurther, to msure a
fair and balanced investigation, the Subcommittee was asked to post-
pone hearings until after the 1972 Presidential election. ' |

Thig, the Subcommittee’s first report, covers, and is limited to, 1ts
investigation of the Anderson allegations. S |
- In September 1972 the Subcommittee staff began an intensive imnvest-
igation of the activities of the United States Government and Ameri-
can owned private corporations in connection with the 1970 Chilean
Presidential election. The staff interviewed dozens of businessmen,
present and former government officials, and present and former I'TT
employees. In addition, the staff requested and received numerous
documents relating to the Chilean situation from I'TT and other com-
panies. These were considerably more extensive than the original
documents on which the Anderson columns were based. The Subcom-
mittee also requested access to documents from the Department of
State, but this was refused. This lack of cooperation by State left an
important gap in the record. as will be noted later.

The Subcommittee heard testimony from witnesses during two days
of hearings in executive session and seven days of hearings in public
sessions. The witnesses included ITT employees, ITT outside direc-
tors, Government witnesses, and witnesses representing other com-
panies and financial institutions which had interests in Chile, or
which were mentioned in the documents. - S

B. Tar Hraring Rrcorp
'SYNOPSIS OF CHILEAN PRESIDENTIAY, ELECTION

. Iﬁ"1970 Chile, was in the midst of a'presidén.tial election campaign.
President Eduardo Frei Montalvo, Christian Democrat, had been

(1)
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elected president in 1964. A fter completion of h:is Six—ye_ar term in 1970
he was 1neligible for re-election. The three major candidates were:
(1) Dr. Salvador Allende (zossens, Socialist, candidate of the
Popular Unity coalition of Communists, Socialists, Social Demo-
crats, Radicals and dissident Christian Democrats. . L
~ (2) Jorge Alessandri Rodriguez, Independent, candidate of the
right-wing National Party, a fusion of the Conservative and Lib-
eral parties. - o | o
(3) Radomiro Tomic Romero, candidate of the ruling Christian
Democrat Party. - | | |
The Popular Unity candidate, Dr. Allende, a long-time Senator and
 founder of the Socialist Party, making his fourth try for the presi-
dency, campaigned for a program of extensive land reform and the
‘rapid nationalization of basic industries, banks, and communications
systems, many of which were controlled by Toreign capital. _
The Christian Democrat, Mr. Tomic, a former Ambassador to the
United States, campaigned for a continuation of Frei’s program of
oradual “Chileanization” of key sectors of the economy-—a sort of
middle way between capitalism and full socialism. . B

. & T .

- Conservative former President Alessandri, was the only candidate

to oive wholehearted support to the private free enterprise system.
- The results of the September 4 popular election were:

Votes* - Percen
ANONE o ieee 1,075,618 36.3
Alessandri_ .. . e e e e —mm e e ————— 1,036,278 35.3

Tomic__..._. D B P S PRSP 824,849 98.4

Although Dr. Allende won with a margin of 39.000 votes, no can-
didate had an absolute majority. In such a case, the Chilean consti-
tution required that a joint session of Congress choose between the
first and second place finishers. The Congressional election was held
October 24, 1970. Salvador Allende Gossens received 153 of the 195
votes. e was sworn in one week later. =~ |

The analysis of the hearing record i1s in three parts: Part I, the
period before September 4, 1970, the date of the Chilean popular elec-
tion for president; Part I1. the period between September 4 and the

- Congressional election of October 24, 1970; and Part IIIL, the post-
Qctober 24 period, after Salvador Allende (Gossens had been elected
- President of Chile. o '

PALRT I, THE PERIOD PRECEDING THE POPULAR ELECTION OF

- - SEPTEMBER 4, 1970 -
McCone and Helms—May/June 1970

¢ The Chilean political situation was discussed at an IT'T Board meet-
ing in the spring of 1970 (Rohatyn testimony) and at the June 1970
board meeting the opinion was expressed that Dr. Salvador Allende
Gossens, the Marxist candidate, would win the popular election. (Me-
Cone testimonyv.) - '

On his own initiative, Mr. John McCone, a former Director of thé

Central Intelligence Agency, at the time a consultant to the Agency
and a Director of ITT, held a number of Qonv’ersations about Chile




with Richard Helms, then CIA Director. At least two conversations |
took place in Langley, Virginia, and one at Mr. McCone’s home n
San Marino, California. (MecC one testimony. ) During these conver-
sations, Mr. McCone told’ Hélms that TTT expected Dr. Allende to
- win the election. He ]:)Olllted out that Allende | TVELS _jcamp‘_aﬂgning on a
. platform calling for the expropriation of AI_HE}I‘lC&H‘-’busme_ss,-'inelud-—'_
. 1ng ITT’s properties, and expressed the opinion that the American
national interest, as well as business interests were involved, ‘“because
there were, as you know, several hundred million dollars of OPIC
cuarantees, of which approximately 100 million dollars were ITT’s.”
(McCone testimony.) e P B
“Mr. McCone asked Mr. Helms whether the United States intended
to intervene in the election’to encourage the support of “one of the
candidates. who stood for the: principlé‘é that are basic in this country.”
(McCone testimony.) Mr. McCone ‘ndicated that the two candidates
he had in mind were Mr. Radomiro Tomic Romero, the candidate of
~ the Christian Democratic Party and Mr. Jorge Alessandri Rodriguez,
an independent and the candidate of the “conservative National
Party. (McCone testimony. ) Incumbent Christian Democratic Pres-
ident :Ef}duard(} Frei M.Qn.t.a,lw)jwag prev ented by law from ‘succeeding
imaelf, - o Siarow e Toplmloee e S TS ET 4 S
" Mr. Helms told Mr. McCone that the matter had been considered by
the “Forty Committee,” the Executitfe:Br&nd}. il}terdepartmental com-
mittee, at that time chaired by Dr. Henry Kissinger, which approves
- (OTA covert actions, and that a decision had ;.bef_},nzama,de that nothing
of consequence. should be done. (McCone testimony.) Helms mdi-
( cated that some minimal effort would be mounted which “could be
managed within the flexibility of their owr budget” that 1s, without
seeking additional a-ppmprizﬂted-:'aflil’-l&S-'"'“- (McCone testimony.) - Mr.
Helms was very  pessimistic ‘about _the chances of Mr. ~Alessandri
and was of the personal opinion that Dr. All ende ‘would win. This
opinion was contrary tothe official reports of the U.S. Embassy. Based
upon polls commissioned or undertaken by the. CIA, the Embassy was
reporting that Alessandri would win a plurality with approximately
40 percent of the vote. (Korry testimony.) . o
~ McCone said that he informed Mr.. Geneen of the decision by the
Agency not to intervene beyond the “normal budget flexibility” in the
Chilean election and that Mr. Geneen was ‘disappointed by the news. -

- .
. =
- '
1
1

(McCone testimony.) .~

Geneen and Broe—July 16,1970 = . - o G
During one of the conversations, ‘Mr. McCone suggested to Mr.
Helms that someone on Helms stafl contact Mr. Geneen, and this sug-
oestion led directly to a meeting between Mr. Greneen and Mr. Broe,
the Chief of the CIA’s (Clandestine Services.(also known as the Di-
lans), Temisphere Division, on July 16, 1970,

-t

in the Sheraton-Carlton Hotel, Washington, D.C. In response to Mr.

McCone’s reqﬁ'e-ét;;::-l\{r;.;i Helms told Mr. Broe that Mr. Geneen, I'TT"s

Chief Executive Officer, would be in Washington on July 16, 19%70. and

that he should get 1n touch with Geneen to arrange a meeting. (Broe

testimony.) Thus it was ._Mc(jﬁﬁe."t;hrt)ugh his suggestion to Helms; who }

set in motion a series of contacts between the I'TT and CIA-1n con-|
{ nection with Chile. | - -

.:.W‘!'—!‘J‘
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- M. Broe was-contacted by ‘William. Merriam, head of ITT’s Wagsh-
ington office; who told h‘i:_n'l- that Mr. (Geneen wanted to meet late in
the evening. Mr. Broe waited for Mr. Gerieen in the lobby of the hotel.
Mr. Merriam:arrived, introduced himself and then took Mr. Broe up
to Mr. Geneen’s suite to wait for him. Mr. Merriam left the suite be-
fore the conversation began. (Broe testimony.) Mr. Geneen asked Mr.
‘Broe for information on the electoral situation, the status and poten-
tial of the candidates and their parties.: (Broe testimony.) Then Mr.
Geneen: offered to assemble an election fund for Jorge Alessandri
Rodriguez, one of the Chilean candidates. Mr. Geneen said the fund
- would be “substantial” and that he wanted the fund controlled and
- channeled threugh the, CIA. (Brde testimony.) Mr. Broe refused the
offer and told Mr. Geneen that the CIA was notsupporting any can-
didate in the Chilean election. The meeting lasted about an-hour. =
-~ Mr. Geneen accepted Broe’s account of the meeting as accurate, al- -
though he said he could not remember making the offer of a campaign
fund. (Geneen testimony.) He testified that he made a similar offer to
‘the CIA 1n 1964 and the offer was rejected by the Agency. (Geeneen
testimony. ) Following the meeting, Mr. Geneen told Mr. Broe to con-
tact I'TT Vice President Ned Gerrity if Geneen was out of town.
Mr. Broe called Mr. Geneen on July 27th to tell him there was no
change in.the Chilean situation. The conversation was very brief and
dealt with the progressof the candidates. IR e |

St

PART II. THE PERIOD BETWEEN ‘SEPTEMBER 4 AND THE CONGRESSIONAL
e - ELECTION ‘OF OCTOBER 24, 1970 - - o

LI .

- On_September 4, 1970, Salvador Allende Gossens won a narrow |
* plurality-of the vote. On:September 9, Mr. Alessandri announced that
11 elected by the Congress, he would immediately resign. This maneu-
‘ver-would open the way for President Frei to run again. In a two-way
contest: between: President Frei and Dr. Allende, many believed Frei
would win. This plan became known as the “Alessandri formula.” -
Lhe Million Dollar Offer ...~ .
. OnSeptember 9,1970, the ITT Board of Directors met for its month-
1y meeting in New York City. Mr. Geneen expressed his concern to
John McCone over the political situation in Chile. In Mr. McCone’s
- words: “What he told me at that time was that he was prepared to put}
up as much as a million dollars in support of any plan that was adopted |
by the government for the purpose of bringing about a coalition of the %
opposition to Allende so that when confirmation was up, which was |
some months later, this coalition would be united and deprive Allende |
of his position.”” (McCone testimony.) Mr. Geneen asked Mr. McCone
to support his proposal. Mr. McCone agreed and came to Washington
several days later and met with Henry Kissinger, Assistant to the
President for National Security Affairs. and Richard Helms. He com-
municated to both Kissinger and Helms Mr. Geneen’s offer of a
$1,000,000. fund for the purpose of assisting any government plan
“designed to form a coalition in the Chilean Congress to stop Allende.
Dr. Kissinger; -according to Mr. McCone, thanked him and said he



.
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would hear from him. Mr. McCone did not receive a call back from
Dr. Kissinger and therefore assumed no government plan had been
developed. (McCone testimony.) S I
On September 11, 1970, at roughly the same time Mr. McCone was
meeting with Dr. Kissinger and Mr. Helms, Jack Neal, the Interna-
tional Relations Director in the ITT Washington oilice, telephoned
Viron P. Vaky, Dr. Kissinger’s assistant for Latin American Aflairs.
He informed him that Mr. Geneen was willing to come to Washington
to discuss his interest and that the company was willing to contribute
2 sum of money in seven figures. He also advised Mr. Vaky that the
company was aware of Ambassador Korry’s position with respect to
the Alessandri formula and that he, Neal, hoped that the White House
would remain neutral in theevent other attempts were made to “save
the situation in Chile.” Mr. Neal claimed that on the following day.
September 12, he delivered the same message to Assistant Secretary of
State Charles Meyer. (Neal testimony.) Meyer however testified that,
although he had spoken with Mr. Neal on that date he could not recall
" the offer of a sum of money. (Meyer testimony. ) _' |
~ There is little doubt that the ITT fund of “up to seven oures”’ was
{/ offered in support of any U.S. government plan to form a coalition in }

. the Chilean Congress capable of stopping the election of Salvador
{  Allende. Mr. Geneen testified that even 1f the plan did not block Al-
\ lende’s election, he hoped it would create a situation in which Allende
% would 00 slowly on the nationalization of American property in Chile. |

(Geneen testimony.) ' ' -

During the hearings Ned Gerrity, ITT’s Vice President in charge
of corporate relations told the committee that the fund was offered
for a constructive purpose such as housing and was designed to be a
display of good will by ITT towards the Allende government. (Ger-
rity testimony.) But this contention strains credulity. Neal denied
any knowledge of the use to which the money was to be put. (Neal
testimony.) Gerrity admitted that he had never communicated any
constructive purposes for use of the funds to Merriam, who gave
Neal his instructions. (Gerrity testimony.) Nor could Gerrity re-
call whether he had ever explicitly discussed such proposals with
Geneen. (Gerrity testimony.) Vaky testified that he understood the
offer of funds by Neal to be in the context of blocking Allende from
becoming president. (Vaky testimony.) And, in all of the documents
submitted, there is no evidence of a constructive purpose for the $1
“million fund. I o - g -
Finally, since the end of World War II, the U.S. provided in
excess of $1.4 billion in foreign aid funds to Chile. The 1dea that $1
million for housing, technical assistance, or agriculture could have an
influence on Allende, a dedicated Marxist for the past 30 years, is not
credible. As Senator Case stated : “The whole body of evidence, memo-
randa, internal communications in the company, communications
~ amony all of you shows great disillusionment on the part of ITT with
a program of aid to Chile, . . . this adds to the difficulty of believing
that a relatively small amount of additional aid would be of any
value.” (Gerrity testimony.) ~ .
In short, Gerrity’s assertion that the company intended a construc-
tive use of the $1 million fund has all of the earmarks of an after-

. . r
Ll s Warm T R Er A ke [ [ a= L] :
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. thought ﬁ&s Senetor Percy put it : “The implausibility of this story is
what bothers us. It just does not hang together. It does not make any
ind of sense for reasonable, rational men . .. to really feel that thls

'ees1etenee could have an 1mpeet ? (Grerrlty testlmony)

- Hendrw and Berrelles in Santiago
In addition to regular reports from the line officers of ITT sub-
sidiaries, ITT receives reports from its Corpomte Relations Depart-
ment which go directly to company headquarters in New York. Two
ex-newspaper men, Hal Hendrix and Robert Berrellez, were responsi-
ble for reporting for ITT’s Corporate Relations Depel tment on Chil-
can rolitical developments. Mr. Hendrix, who was based in New York.
made frequent tmpe around Latin Ameri ica, as did Mr. Berrellez who
was based in Buenos Aires. The reports ﬁled by Messrs. Hendrix and
Berrellez were among the most suggestive documents received. by the
Subcommittee and the background of their reports was the eub] ect of
intensive Investigation.
. In August 19 70 Mr. Hendrix was instructed by Mr Grerrlty to meke‘g
[ a commitment to increase the advertising of the ITT-controlled:
i Chilean telephone company (Chiltelco) in conservative Chilean news- |
| papers by 50%. Mr. Hendrix explained that he made the recommenda- |
} tion because the newspepers were losing advertisers who thought Dr.;
' Allende would win. The advertising program was designed to bolster
iiix:the newspapers to ‘‘keep their edltellel voices alive.” Mr. Gerrity
testified. that he later learned the commitment had never been hon-
ored. It was vetoed by Benjamin Holmes, Chiltelco’s local manager, |
as being too obviously political.
The Company mstructed Mr. Berrellez to make reporting on the
' eleetlen his number one priority. On the night of the popular election,
he filed cables to New York every few houre as the votes were tebuleted
On September 7, Mr. Berrellez filed his first post-election report which
Was beeed largely on an interview with Arturo Matte, Mr. Alessandri’s
brother-in-law and closest political &d\”lS@I Berrellez eummed up. the
situation as follows:
| (a) any. attempt to ]mplement the Alessandri formula weuld lead
 to a bloodbath; ( b) prospects for successtul implementation of the
Alessandri formula were at best pu oblematical; (c) “reliablest”
sources in Santiago caution to proceed slowly, not to panic; (d) it
would be possible to negotiate dlreet]y with Allende. with respect to
the company’s pr epermes, and (e) “strong outside political and eco-
noemic px essures resulting in unemple*y ment and unrest iternally will
certainly strengthen the hand of the left wing extremists and will
convert Allende into merely a puppet of a nmehme dedicated to Vlolent
antl-U.S. revolution on a hemisphere scale.” (Appendix II. ) '
During the week of September 14th, following the WVeshmgton.
activities of Mr. McCone end Mr. N eei Mr. Hendrix joined Mr.
~ Berrellez in Santiago. On September 17th they cabled a ]01111: report
to I'TT in the United States which eerefully explored the chances of
~ blocking Dr. Allende’s election by the Chilean Congress. The report
“also contained specific recommendations for supportmg Chﬂeens Work—
I;ng to block Dr. Allende’s election.
One paragraph written by Mr. Hendrix said, “Late Tuesday night !
(September 15), Ambassador Edward Korry ﬁnelly recelved a mes—
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sage f]:*om State Department oiving him the, oreen llght to move 1
i the mame of President Nixon.” The, message gave him maximum

\

authority to do all possible—short of a- Dommlca:ﬂ Republic type

“action—to keep Allende from taking power.” (Appendix II.)

According to Mr. Hendrix, the source of the information was a

~ Chilean national, described as an intimate political associate of Krei.
- (Hendrix testlmony ) Mr Hendrix said his informant told him that
a very hard message—“muy duro”’—had been received at the U.S.
Embassy from a very high—“muy alto”—source. (Hendrix testimony.)
The discussion took place at a coflee bar next to the presidential palace.

- The Chilean scurce, according to Hendrix, never specifically named
President Nixon or made reference to the Dominican Republic. These
references, he said, were his own embellishment of what he had been

told. Hendrix denied that the information on which the paragraph

~was based came from sources within the United States Embassy or

the Central Intelligence Agency. (Hendrix testimony.)

Both Broe and Merriam testified that Mr. Merriam gave a copy of
~'the cable to Mr. Broe and that Mr. Broe said that the report was ac-

curate and the recommendations it contained were good.
Thesa 1ecommend&t1cms were the following ( (Appendix II)

" 1. We and other U.S. firms in Chile pump some advertising )

5 imto Mercurio. ('This has been started. )

-
| on radio and television . . .
; doza or Baires [ Buenos Aires] for wives and children of key

- lies for a period of a month to six weeks, maybe two months.

~ editorials around Latin America and into Europe. Up until 1
5. Urge the key European press, through our contacts there,

& Co. win this country.

the Chrlstla,_n Democrats.

2. We help with getting some propa,ganchsts working again
3. Assist in support of a “family reloca,tlon center in Men-
persens involved in the fight. ThlS will involve about 50 fami-

4. Bring what pressure we can on USIS in Washington to
~ instruct the Santiago USIS to start moving the Mercurio

left they were under orders not to move anything out of Chile.
17 to get the story of what disaster could fall on Chile it Allende

__ These are immediate Suggestwns and there will be others
\ between now and October 24 as pressure mounts on Fx el a,nd

When Ambassador- Korry was questioned about the green llght%

ﬂmessa,ge” he refused to tell the Subcommittee what his instructions:
 from Washington were. Assistant Secretary of State Meyer also re- |
' fused to. say what the Ambassador’s instructions were and the Depart- |
7; ment refused to furnish copies of the cables it sent to Santiago. In the
face of the refusal of the State Department to cooperate, it is. 1M pos-
~ sible for the Subcommittee to determme definitely whether the Am-
x bassador in fact received a cable substantm]ly aloncr the lines deseribed
. by Hendrix. The reluctance of the State Depwim&nt to assist the
gSu}::r(2*;4::’]3:1111rri;tee-a is indicated by the correspondence pubhshed as an

?f;ppendm to the hearlng Volumes

\
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) The 1atter part of the messa,ge was drafted by Mr. Berrellez and

was based upon a further interview with Mr. Matte In Summmg up

this conversation, Mr. Berrellez noted that Mr Matte told him “the -
leader we thought was missing is right there in the saddle (Frei) but

he won’t move unless he 1s prowded with a constitutional threat; the
threat must be provided one way or another through provoca,tlon _

Matte did not mention money or other needs but at the end when it

‘was mentioned we were, as always, ready to contribute with what was

| necessary he said ‘we would be advised.” ”

Mr. Berrellez in his testimony attempted to explain this pledge of
support as merely a p011te leavetaking observation, general in nature,
with no 1mp11cat1011 of political support financial or otherwise. This
explanatmn is belied by the context in which it was made. Mr. Ber-
rellez had just finished a detailed discussion of the prospects. of
defeating Allende through the Alessandri formula, or by creating

| sufficient pmvocatlon., economic or otherwise, to bring about a constitu-
~ tional crisis which would lead the Army to intervene and prevent
Allende from being elected president. ( Appendix I1.) - - |
f The cable is action oriented, specific in content and openly anti- \
/A]lende Placed 1 context, 1t would be i incongruous to construe Ber-
rellez’ offer of assistance as a stylized way of saying goodbye. The
i Subcommittee believes it was clearly an offer to back the anti-Allende
f effort then underway in Chile with financial or other resources. It
| was a logical complement to the offer that McCone and Neal made
{ in Washington of a $1 million fund in support of any U.S. Govern-
. ment plan deswned to form a coahtlon in the Chilean C‘ongress to
\defeat Dr. Allende. .

‘Messrs. Berrellez and Hendrix continued to file I'eports on the devel-
oping Chilean political situation which reflected the ardent desire
to see Dr. Allende defeated. (Appendix I1.)

00%&02‘9 Between the ITT Washington Office and the OTA

- A copy of the September 17th cable from Messrs. Hendrix and
Berrellez was sent to William Merriam, head of the TTT Washington
~ office. The cable was discussed at a staff meeting and became the basis
tor stafl action. Mr. Merriam called Mr. Broe “and arranged to meet
him for lunch at the Metropolitan Club in Washington on Septem -
ber 22nd. Before the luncheon, Mr. Merriam sent Broe a copy of the
September 17 cable. At lunch Mr. Merriam asked Mr. Broe for his
judgment of the assessment and the workability of the recommenda-
tions. Broe confirmed the validity of the p011t1c:a,1 analysis and ap-
_ proved the recommendations.
Acting on one of the recommenda,tlons n the cable, Bernard Good-— |
g rich, an ITT public relations man, visited the office of the Umtedg

States Information Agency in TV&shmcrton Mr. Goodrlch testlﬁed
. that he told the agency ITT was suppartmg L'l Mercurio with in-
" creased advertising and urged them to circulate Z7 Mercurio edltorla,ls
more widely in Lai‘m America. He asked them whether there was any~
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~ thing ITT as a private company could do that the U.S. Government
could not do. When USITA officials said the company should not do
anything overt which might be interpreted as intervention, Goodrich,
“assured them that our people were well experienced in that field.”
(Appendix I1.) - S B I
Broe and Gerrity—=September 29, 1970—and U.S. Government Policy
Prior to September 4, 1970, the policy of the U.S. Government, ac-
cordingto Assistant Secretary of State Meyer, was to not interfere in
the Chilean electoral process. Mr. McCone testified that Mr. Helms had
~informed him that although the matter of the Chilean election had!
i been discussed in June of 1970 at the “Forty Committee”, the inter-
| departmental group which controls the covert operations of the CIA,
i nothing of consequence would be done to influence the outcome: of the
| September 4 election. T |
E - In the aftermath of Allende’s victory, however, this policy of allow-
-1 ing events to take their course in Chile without substantial U.S. inter-
vention was the subject of high level review within the U.S. Gov-
ernment. Meyer, testified that shortly after the September 4 election,
 the Forty Committee, at a meeting which he attended, met _f_Q'r_the‘_'-ex-.E
 press purpose of discussing U.S. policy in connection with Chile; but
" he refused to inform the Committee what precisely was said at the
 meeting, what decisions, 1f any, were taken and what instructions were
- communicated to Mr. Korry, the U.S. Ambassador in Chile.
- Mr. Korry did testify however that immediately after Allende won
a plurality in the popular election of September 4, 1970, he sent a ten-
point cable to the State Department indicating that an Allende presi-
i 'dency would not be in the best interests of the U.S. (IKorry testimony.) ,
i Dr. Kissinger stated in an off-the-record briefing to a group of Mid- [
! western néwspaper editors in Chicago on September 16, 1970 that an|
i Allende presidency would cause substantial probiems for the Unite
. States as well ‘as for Latin American countries bordering on Chile!
" (Korry testimony.) It is, accordingly, clear that both the U.S. Em-
{ bassy in Santiago and high levels of the U.S. Government in Wash-
| ington viewed with hostility the prospect of an Allende Government.
| Tt 1s within this context that Broe’s visit to Mr. Gerrity of September
29, 1970 must be viewed. . e
v On September 29th, for the first time 1n the course of the contacts
between I'TT and the United States Government, the (Government took
the initiative. Mr. Broe, at the instruction of CIA Director Richard
Helms, called Mr. Gerrity in New York and arranged to meet him
there on September 29th. e
- Messrs. Broe and Gerrity agreed substantially about what was said |
! when they met. Mr. Broe proposed a plan to accelerate economic chaos
¢ in Chile as a means of putting pressure on Christian Democratic Con-
gréssmen to vote against Dr. Allende or in any event to weaken Dr.
. ‘Allende’s position in case he was elected. (Broe and Gerrity testi-
mony.) As Gerrity summed it up, Broe made suggestions based |

-
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‘on recommendations from “our representative on the scene” and analy-

sis in Washington. The specific suggestions as recorded by Gerrity

were the following:
" 1. Banks should not remew credits or should delay in
[,domng so. o

11 2. Companies should drag their feet 1n sending money, in

| making deliveries, in shipping spare parts, etc.

N *j 8. Savings and loan companies there are in trouble. IT pres-
- | sure were applied they would have to shut their doors,

i thereby creating stronger pressure.

41 4. We should withdraw all technical help and should not
- ; promise any technical -assistance in the future. Companies
o ! in a position to-de so should close their doors. |

4

. 1

- - -
Ay

L]

a

. [ B :

- b, A list of companies was provided and “it was suggested

- 1that we approach them as indicated. I was told that of all

.~ of the companies involved ours alone had been responsive

. and understood the problem. The visitor added that money
. was not a problem.” (Appendix IL.)

~ Broe testified that the plan to create economic chaos was a “thesis”
which had been developed after analysis of the points of vulnerabil-
ity of the Chilean society. Following Allende’s victory in the popu-
lar election, many middle class Chileans were uneasy about the future
of the economy and began to withdraw their money from banks. Also,
many Chileans attempted to convert their Chilean currency to for-
~ eign currencies and to get it out of the country. S
; The CIA’s thinking was that if additional pressure were placed on
| the Chilean economy, the deterioration would be accelerated and Chris-
f tian Democratic Congressmen who were planning to vote for Allende
; would be shocked into changing their minds and following the Ales-
sandr: formula. S | |
- Mr. Gerrity told Mr. Geneen that he didn’t think the plan would
- work. Mr. Geneen then consulted McCone who also told Geneen that
the plan would not work. Mr. Geneen decided not to implement it.
-~ Mzr. Meyer attempted to explain Mr. Broe’s proposal to Mr. Gerrity
% as merely the exploration of a possible policy option. Mr. Meyer was
tunwilling to inform the Subcommittee of the substance of the Forty
 Committee meeting. The Subcommittee is, accordingly, unable to say
. whether Mr. Helms’ instruction to Mr. Broe to contact Mr. (zerrity
" and make proposals to Mr. Gerrity for creating economic dislocation
in Chile were a direct outcome of the Forty Committee meeting which
took place shortly after Allende won a plurality in the September 4
election. It 1s clear, however, that Mr. Broe’s proposal of concrete
measures designed to create economic difficulties in Chile for the pur-
pose of influencing Christian Democrat Congressmen to vote against
Allende 1 the Congressional election of October 24 was in striking
- contrast to the pre-September 4 U.S. Government policy of allowing
‘events in- Chile to follow their natural course without substantial in-
terference from the U.S. Government. | a
The contacts between I'TT and the CIA continued after Mr. Broe’é%g
meeting with Mr. Gerrity. On October 6th, Mr. Broe talked to the |
deputy head of ITT"s Washington Office, John Ryan, about the pros-

fﬂmwm



( pects of steppmg ]r Allende Mr Rysm testlﬁed that his memeran—
1dum of the conversation was. accurate that Mr. Broe had ur oged TTT

to keep the pressure on, end hsd suggested a run 03:1 the bsnks (Ryan
testlmeny )

Mr. Mermam met Mr Broe for lunch on severa,l occasions efter-
. that and when cables arrived from oantiago he called Broe and
“arranged to have a CIA messenger pick up copies. In exchange, Mr;
Broe kept Mr. Merriam informed about the CTIA assessment of the
situation. Mr. Merriam passed the information along to his superlors

and at Gerrity’s spemﬁe request, to Mr. McCone. -

The comp pany’s thinkingiis reﬂected m Mr, Merrlam S October 23
letter to Dr. Kissinger. (Merriam testimony.) The letter, and the ac-
companying attachment, were the outgrowth of an October 16 con-
versation between Mr. Nea,l and Ambassador Korry. The Ambassa-
~ dor, Mr. Neal testified, advised him to get ITT’s ]eohepr suggestlens
. ebout Chile to Dr. Klssmger before October 24th. -

7% The letter and mfemoranduin proposed that the U. S. Grevernment
take a number of measures against the Allende government. For
example it suggested that, “without informing President Allende

all U.». aid flmds alresdy committed: to Chile should be placed in
the ‘under review’ status in order that entry of money mte Chile is
.temporsrlly stepped with a view to a permanent cut off if necessary.

This includes ‘funds 1n the plpe lme m—‘letters of ered_lt’ or any sueh ?
'(Mermsm testimony.) '

- Mr. Merriam’s 1etter and the sttachment were dlstrlbuted to Mr
: Gerrlty (Merriam testimony.) The only apparent dissent in the com:
pany came from Richard Dillenbeck of the ITT Legal Depsrtment _

who warned that the actions proposed by the company mwht jeopar-
dlze the investment guarantee whichi covered the (‘;t:JrJ:ﬂpa,:m,?r S proper—
| tles in Chile. (Merriam testimony.)

- The letter was acknowledged by Dr. Klssmger, but s,lthou h Mr.
Mermsm thought the s,eknowledgment was more than perfunctory,
there eppsrently was no follow-up action or conversatwn with Kis-
smger or anyone on his staff. (Mermem testlm ony. )

The B aﬂksmA Diverse Reactwﬂ

‘Because of the references in the ITT deeuments to “bsnks in I\;ew
York and California” and because the CTA suggestion to ITT wasthat
they work to create economic chaos in Chile b y causing a run on finan-
cml institutions, the Subcommittee invited test1msny from the Chase
Manhattan Bank, Manufacturer’s Hanover Trust Company, First Na-
tional City Bank and the Bank of America. In addition, the Sub-
committee staﬁ interviewed officials of Morgq,n Gu arsnty TI ust Cem-
pany and Marine Midland National Bank. | -
~ All of the bank officials who testified or who were mterwewed ssld
, _theyr had not been approached by the Central Intelligence Agency,
~ ITT, Chilean nationals or anyone else to cut back on their lending or
to create economic chaos in an effort to block President Allende’s elee-{
~tion. The Subcommittee could find no evidence of involvement by-_
American financial institutions in a plan to block President Allende’s
“election by the Congress or in a eeneerted eﬁ'ert to Wesken hlm by'
erestmw “ﬁnsnoml cheos e Do - | AN
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TWO of the banks, Chase Manhattan and Morgan Guaranty, cut
thelr lines of credit because they thought Chilé’s economic prospect,_i
were poor. Two banks, Manufacturer’s and Marine Midland, increased
their outstanding loans in the period between the two electlons The
Bank of America and First National City Bank carried on at. emstmg
loan levels. Thus, the financial community rea,ctlon to the Allende Vi6s
tory in the p()pula,r election was diverse.
~ Two of the large banks reported that they were a,ppmached by'
Chﬂean nationals with requests for campaign contributions to support
the Alessandri mndldacy and both reported turnmcr the request down
as a'matter of long standing policy. - | - |
- “Several of the bank witnesses said that from thelr perspectwe, -
creating” economic chaos would have been counterproductive. The

banks had large amounts outstanding in loans to the Chilean Govern-
1ient, ‘as well as to Chilean businessmen. Economic cha,os mlght ha,ve-.
meant that the loans could not have been repald S S
S A number of bank witnesses said that in order to- 0perate in a lar &

humber of countries around the world they have adopted strict pG]lClBS
of non-involvement in the political affairs of the countries where they
dé business: The bankers said they are located in countries with w1dely '_
d’lﬁermg forms of government and widely differing political and eco-
110mic systems TInvolvement in host country pohtlcs WOIﬂd 1nev1tab1yj
inean impairment of their ability to function.. :

The bank witnesses were unanimous in the view that the OIIGV of
non- mvolvement 1n-host country p(}llthS 18, in the 1011g run, the best
for busmess o - s

PART III ALLENDE IN POWER o

On .ej;ober 18 Alesandn W1thd1 ew from the Concrressmnal run—oﬁ
'and in the October 24 Congressional election Salvador Allende re-
_cewed 153 of the 195 Votes oast He was sworn 1n as Premdent of Chﬂe
on November 4, 1970.. L - . - - |

'T?z,e Ad-Hoe Oa?nm@twe on 0}1@2@ o

~ Inearly 1971, LT.T. began to follow a two- track strategy Wlth ro-
spect to the Allende government. On the one hand, at the suggestion of
f Ralph Mecham, the Washington represerntative of the Anaconda Com-
pany, Mr. Merriam invited the Washington representatives. of major
f U:S. companies having investmentsin Chile to form an Ad Hoc Com-
. mittee on Chile. (Mel riam testimony.) There were several meetings,
i thé first of which took place in early January, 1971, in ITT’s Wash-
ington ‘offices. Representatives of Amnaconda, Kennecout ‘Ralston
1 Purina, Bank of America, Plizer Chemmal and Grace a,nd Companyf
' attended (Merriam testlmony) o |
- The purpose was described in a memorandum by Mr leald Rad-
d&tz, the Bank of America representative: “the thrust of the meeting;
~ was toward the application of pressure on the (U.S.) Government,
 wherever possible, to make 1t clear that a Chilean take-over would not
be tolerated without serious repercussions following.” “ITT,” said
( the-memo, “believes the place to apply pressure-is through- the- office.

of Henry Kissinger:” “Thatis- what we have-been doing for the last
| year or 50,7 said Mr. Merriam. One purpose of the pressure, Mr. Mer-
' riam conﬁrmed was to get the U.>. Government to block loans to Chﬂe



- by institutions eueh, as ta,he World Benl«x end the Ir.,lter A.memcen Devel—

opment Bank. (Merrlem testimeny ) President AHende had not, at

the. tlme of the meetmg, teken eXpr op1 1etory eetmn egamst eny Amer-—
1can concern. . ... T

Nevertheless as explemed by Merme:m, the’ purpoee of. denymg
Chile credits 1 m Je anuary 1971 was to produce economic probleme for ,
Chile. By confr onting him with economic collapse, said Mr. Meruem,
Dr. Allende could be made more willing to negotiate W1th ITT on
terms. satisfactory: to the eOmpenV (Iﬂfem 1am testlmon ) '

The Anaconda Corporation may have shared this: herd line epproeeh ..
tewerd Dr. Allende. Mr. Mecham, in reporting on the fermetlou of
the Ad Hoc group to Jay Pﬁf"kmeon Chalrmen of the Board of Ana-
conda, noted that the purpose of the group was to “keep the pressure
on hlSSln oer,” (Mecham testlmony ) The Ad Hoc Comimitiee, Mecham

stified, never considered the possibility that the eppheetmn of such
externa,l economic pressure on Chile could, as Mr. Berrellez had warned
n hls cable of September 7, 1970, *beekﬁre and lead President:Allende
1mt6 a more aggressively anti-American posture. (Mecham testlmmm.) '
_ Wilham Foster, then the Washington repreeentatwe of Ralston
Puring Company reperted to Hi§ office in'St. Louis on the: first meet-
ing'of the Ad Hee group end was directed not to attendieny further
meetings. (Foster testimony.)  Ralston Purina’ wag ectweiy nee"em- .
ating’ with the Chilean Government, saw a reasonable - prospect of &
emtlsfectory settlement and decided thet participation in'the Ad Hoe
oroup would " 1eeperdlz‘e the negotiations. Similarly, the Bank:of
America participated in two meetmge to gather mformetlen but ‘did
not endorse an-activist prograin because of its belief that'a “hard line”
position’ would compmmme the b%nke a,blhty to negotle'te. (*-edda,tz
testimony.) | AR I

The . Company’s Ste]ae and Neg’c:»‘tmtzoﬂs Lt en an o

Wiiile Merriam. was. one‘amzmg the Ad H-oe Cemmltteer ITT,WeS
. develepmg strategy _fer negetlet1110 with Allende. ITT’s. primary
“investment. in Chile x was & 70% interest in the Chilean telephene com-
pany (Chilteleo):. The estimated book value of this ITT investment
was placed at- approximately $153: million; The -remaining 80% of
~ Chilteleo was held by the Ghﬂesm Develepment Corpomtlen (Cor fe)
and. individual Chﬂefm private investors.  $92.5 . million> of ITT’s
$153 million interest in Chiltelco was covered by mvestment guaranty
agreements administered by the Overseas Private Investment. Corpo-
ration (OPIC). Whlch prewded Insurenee, among other thmgs, a,gemst
expropriation. = -
Allende first mentmned the pOS'%lbﬂlfY ef netwmﬂwmg Chﬂtelce m
a. campaign speech of September 2, 1970. The eventual Chilean owner-
ship of Chiltelco was full entlemftted by ITT executives. In’ edd1—~
tl(m* ‘to ‘the Chiltelco’ properb ITT hed other lesser heldmgs n
Chile, including two hotels, a telephone directory book service and
AN mternetmnel cable’company. The estimated beok ve,l“ue of ITTT’
mmvestments in Chﬂe meludme Chﬂtelco, emeunted te epprommetely
$169 million.” 1 it -
On Oetober 20, 197 0 Allende 1111r1fe61 Benmmm Holmeé the Chll-‘*
telco local menee‘ez'“ to meet' with him. At that meeting, ‘Allende

indicated that he had not definitely decided upon a course 'of action

_____
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with respect to Chiltelco. (Appendix II.) Hence, there was reason
{o believe that negotiations were possible with Allende.

"TTT had successfully negotiated the sale of telephone properties to
the Peruvian Government by persuading that Government that a
satisfactory agreement with ITT would demonstrate that 1t was not
inherently hostile to foreign investments. I'TT persuaded the Peru-
vian Government that it could then argue that its decision to expro-
priate, without compensation, the property of the International Pe-
troleum Company (IPC), a wholly owned subsidiary of the kxxon
Corporation, was a special case and not an indication of general
financial irresponsibility. ' I R '

Mr. Guilfoyle summed up the strategy in a July 9, 1971 note to
the ITT Board: ' o - '

When Aﬂende signg the copper 'législation and formally expropriates Ana-
conda and Kennecott, there must be increased international resentment against
the Government of Chile, and, as in the case of Peru, on their expropriation
of IPC, we were able to capitalize on this and eventually arrive at a deal which
allowed them to announce internationally that copper and IPC were special
cases and here is an arrangerment we made in a reasonable negotiation with
ITT. (Appendix II.) | . .

 Through Mr. Holmes, a meeting was arranged with Dr. Allende on
March 10, 1971 in Santiago, Chile, which was attended by, among
. others, Messrs. Guilfoyle and Francis Dunleavy of the New York
; Headquarters. TTT’s memorandum about the meeting, prepared by
| Mr. Hendrix, described it as cordial. President Allende informed I'TT
. that he had not decided whether the Government would nationalize
Chilteleo or propose a joint venture with 1T'T. (Guilfoyle testimony.)
Dunleavy told Allende that ITT was prepared to negotiate in good |
faith but that the day he “grabbed” the telephone company ITT 3
would go to OPIC and invoke its investment guarantee agreement.
{Guilfoyle testimony.) _ . . |
§ On May 26, President Allende informed Mr. Guilfoyle that Chil-
itelco would be nationalized and that a commission to be headed by
‘the Minister of the Interior would negotiate the terms of compen-
-sation. ITT responded that the terms of the contract required Chile
' to pay ITT the full book value of its interest in Chiltelco; 1.e., $153

i million. The Chileans offered $24 million for I'TT’s interest in Chal-

i

‘ teleo. They also proposed valuation by international arbitration, but
* they insisted as well that the Government take over the management
~of the company pending the arbitration. Guilfoyle, however, opposed
. government management of the company while the arbitration was
" under way because he fearved that the value of the property would
deteriorate under Chilean Government management. This first phase
of negotiations thus ended in impasse. .

The October 1, 1971 Letter to Peterson

- On September 29, the Chilean Government took over the manage-
ment of Chilteleo, confiscating the books of the company. The govern-
ment alleged that Chiltelco was deliberately allowing service to de-
teriorate. I'TT denied the allegations. o :
A number of Chilteleo executives, all Chilean nationals, were
arrested. The arrests were in connection with the activities of an-
other ITT subsidiary which published telephone books. |
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Shortly after the intervention in Chiltelco by the Chilean Govern-
ment, Mr. Merriam wrote to John Ehrlichman on the White House
stail and requested a meeting for Mr. Geneen with Henry Kissinger
and Peter Peterson, Assistant to the President for International Eco-

nomic Affairs. A luncheon meeting was scheduled. s S

Because of the demands on Dr. Kissinger’s time, Greneral Haig,
his deputy, joined Mr. Petetson at lunch with Mr, Geneen. Mr. Petor.
son testified that the luncheon meeting was brief and the discussion
was a rather straightforward exposition of what had happened to
the company in Chile. Mr. Peterson could not recall whether Mr.
Geneen made specific suggestidns but did remember My, (Geneen say-
ing he would send some. 1deas’ along. S

Following the meeting, Mr. Geneen instructed Mr. Merriam to put
ITT% suggestions in writing and forward them to Mr. Peterson. In
response to the request, Merriam sent a letter to Peterson dated Octo-
ber 1, 1971, which had attached an 18-point action plan. Among other
things the plan proposed the following specific measures to see to it
that Allende would not “make it through the next six months”:

{(Appendix IIL.)

Continue loan restrictions in the international banks suclh as those ithe Export/ \
Import Bank has already exhibited. |
Quietly have large U.S. private banks do the same.
Confer with roreign banking sources with the same thing in mind.
Delay buying from Chile over the next six months. Use U.B, copper stockpile
instead of buying from. Chile. . - ey
- Bring about a scarcity of U.S. dolars in Chile. |
Discuss with CIA how it can assist the six-month squeeze, S
Get 1o reliable sources within the Chilean Militavy, Delay fuel delivery to Navy
and gasoline to Air Force. (This would have to be carefully handied, otherwise
would be dangerous. However, a false delay could build up their planned dis- ;
content against Allende, thus, bring about necesgity of his removal.) g
k

.E_
;
]

Help disrupt Allende's UNCTAD plans, . | _ | e
I{ is noted that Chile’'s annual exports to the U.S. are valued at $154 million 'j.
(U.S. dollars). As many U.S. markets as possible should be closed to Chile.

Likewise, any U.S. exports of special importance to Allende should be delayed :
or stopped. \

Thus, one year after Broe proposed a plan to accelerate economic
chaos 1n Chile, Merriam on behalf of the company, was proposing to
the President’s Assistant for International Fconomic Policy a similar
plan to exacerbate the Chilean economic situation. (Merriam testi-
mony.) Peterson testified that he toolk no action to implement the
‘Merriam plan. (Peterson testimony.) .

In accordance with the company’s usual distribution procedures,
the Merriam letter and 18-point plan were distributed within the com-
pany. Neither Geneen nor Gerrity evidenced any disagreement with
this plan to create economic chaos in Chile so as to prevent Allende
from getting through the next six months. e

Publication of the Anderson Columns and the Breal-O #F of Negotia-

-
o

et

4

- In December 1971 negotiations were resumed between the company
and the Allende Government. Allende agreed to move the locus of the
negotiations from Santiago to Washington where they were to be con-
ducted on behalf of the Chilean Government by Chile’s Ambassador
to the United States, Orlando Letelier. Letelior and Guilfovle were

Lo~
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in active negotiations, according to Guilfoyle, pursuing the possibility
of international appraisal of the company’s assets, as a basis for deter-
mining compensation up until March 20, when Jack Anderson, syndi-
cated columnist, published his first column dealing with ITT’s activi-
ties in connection with Chile in the fall of 1970. Guilfoyle had been
scheduled to meet with Letelier a few days after the publication of the
Anderson column but that meeting was cancelled and the negotiations
were broken off, following the public action of the Anderson columns.

- (Guilfoyle testimony ; Geneen testimony.) - _
The Board of Directors of ITT ' o
Felix Rohatyn testified that the Executive Committee of the Board
ot Directors, which is composed of the outside Directors mcluding
Rohatyn, was informed in April 1972, of McCone’s and Geneen’s 1970
offer of funds to the CIA, but had no knowledge of these fund offers
at the time they were made. (Rohatyn testimony.) The Board’s
concern was whether the assets of ITT were likely to be depleted as
~a result'of the actions of the management and McCone in connection
with Chile. Opinion of outside counsel was obtained that the QPIC
guarantees -had not been jeopardized. No other investigation was
undertaken as to the propriety of management’s action.” (Rohatyn
testimony.) | R .
o | - C. CoNCLUSIONS
In summary : . .
€ On July 16, 1970, Geneen offered a substantial fund to the CTA
to be used to support the conservative candidate Alessandri in the
Chilean election of September 4, 1970. This offer was turned down,
Just as the CIA had rejected an offer of assistance made by I'TT in
connection with the 1964 Chilean election. - e
® In early September, 1970, McCone supported Geneen’s offer of
a $1 million fund in support of any U.S. Government plan de-
~signed to form a coalition in the Chilean Congress to prevent Al-
lende from becoming president, and, at Geneen’s request, com-
-municated this offer to Kissinger and Helms. _ -
- ®On September 13, 1970, Berrellez offered support, financial or
- otherwise, in Santiago to the key advisor of one of the principal
. political figures in Chile. ) | o - _ _
€ On September 23, 1970, Goodrich urged the USIA to circulate
throughout Latin America the editorials of an anti-Allende Chil-
. ean newspaper. - I S
- @ Throughout September and October, 197 0, Merriam provided
- Broe with, and received in return, detailed political intelligence
. 1n connection with Chile. | S
€ Geneen, Gerrity and McCone. considering. a plan proposed to
them by the CIA on September 29,1970, to create economic chaos
in Chile but rejected it because they thought it “unworkable”,
® In January, 1971, before there had been expropriation of the
- company’s property, Merriam encouraged other American com-
- pantes to form an Ad-Hoc Committee on Chile for the exXpress
purpose of “pressurin o Kissinger and the White House”.. . .
® Larly in T97T negotiafions were undertaken vith a viow to con-
vincing Allende that if he made a deal with ITT he could con-
fiscate with impunity other U.S. companies in Chile,




17

® At the end of September, 1971, when negotiations seemed to

‘have failed, and the Chilean Government moved to take over man-

- agement of Chiltelco, Merriam proposed to Peter Peterson, then

~ Special Assistant to the President, an 18-point plan designed to

insure that Allende “does not get through the next six months”.

_Peterson never acted upon this plan. e

. T T . e~ COIND _ DS was beSt summed up byGer_

rity when he asked, “What’s wrong with takine care of No. 1?” The

Subcommittee limits its comments on this statement to the observa-

tion that “No. 1”7 should not be allowed an undue role in determining

U.S. foreign policy and the Subcommittee will conclude with specific
legislative recommendations on this point. .= T _‘

In order to appreciate the full meaning of ITTT’s activities, one need
only consider the reaction in this country in circumstances similar to
those prevailing in Chile. o S R
- Senator Church put the issue when he posed the tollowing: hypo-
thetical situation to Mr. McCone : . ' o
- Suppose we had an election in this country and the candidate receiving the
largest number of votes fails to get either a majority of the popular vote or the

electoral vote, with the result that the selection .of the next. President under
pur Constitution falls to the House of Representatives. Suppose, farther, that the

- .

tandidate getting the largest number of votes is one who has strongly favored
very restrictive policies against foreign investment in the United States. Now
we have a somewhat similar ‘situation procedurally to that in Chile. The Con-
-gress of the United States is to make the choice of the next President. There is
an interval between the popular election and the time that ‘the Congress decides.
Suppose British Petroleum, feeling that these restrictive policies will be inimical
to its own interests in the United States, goes to the British- Government and
says, “If you can design a plan that will prevent this American candidate ¥Who
received the most number of votes from being selected by the Corgress, we are
prepared to help support or finance that plan up:to-seven figures.’”> - -7 ..

In response to Senator Church’s question as-to-whether that would
be an appropriate political action for a British company to take under
these circumstances, Mr. M¢Cone responded : “I would personally be
very distressed if the British ‘(Government or: any other government
attempted to influence the Congress of the United States 1n their re-
sponsibility to select a President . . . T would be even more distressed
1f I learned that any corporation offered to support political action on
the part of a foreign government.” (McCone testimony.) -
/In the Chilean case, the consequences of TTT’s proposed interven-
tion in the Chilean eleéctoral process could have been particularly |
severe. 'Ihe company executives in New York City were warned by
Berrellez, their top political reporter in Santiago, that support of the |
so-called “Alessandri formula” would result in bloodshed and near [
civil war, and that the application of external economic and political |
Ppressure would strengthen the hands of left wing extremists and con-
vert Allende, whom Berrellez considered “a so ft-lining Marxist”, into
an anti-American demagogue. L R o
- This 1s not to say that there was no reason for concern on the com-
pany’s part over the fate of its investments in Chile. The company
stake was large—investments of $160 million, book value, of which ap-
proximately $100 million was covered by OPIC investment guarantees.
Allende was a dedicated Marxist, a member of the Socialist Party for
50 years. His electoral platform and public statements contemplated
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natmnallzetmn ef Chﬂtelee WVhethel eompeneatlon weuld be pa,ld OT,
1t pmd whether such compensation. WOlﬂd be edequete was not clear
from his uttemncee So the eempeny ’s concern  was. perfectly
1111derstendable N R P |

So, too, was its desire to eommumeate tlnt concern to the appro-
priate officials of the U.S. Government and to seek their judgment as.
to how the United States would view the possible eventuality of a
- seizure of company property without adequate compensation. It is
also understandable that the company would wish to have the U.S.
Government’s assessment of the likelithood of an Allende victory, so
that it could plan for such an eventuahty 1n terms of neﬂ'otla,tlons, in-

vestment strategy, and corporate profitability targets.

‘But what is not to-be condoned 1is that the highest ofﬁelels of the
ITT sought to.engage the CIA 1n a plan covertly to manipulate the
outcome of the Chilean presidential election. In so doing the company
overstepped the line of acceptable corporate behavior. T TTT s actions
in seeking to enlist the CIA for its purposes with respect to Chile were
to be sanetwned as normal and acceptable, no country would w elcome
the presence of multinational corporations. Over every dispute or
potential dispute between a company and a host government in con-
nection with a corporation’s investment interests, there would hang
the spectre of foreign intervention. No soverelgn nation would be will-
ing to accept that possﬂoﬂlty as the price of permitting foreign:.cor-
porations to invest in its territory. The pressures which the company
sought to bring to bear on the U.S. Government for CIA interven-
tion are thus. meompatlble with the long-term existence. of multi-
national corporations; they are also incomp atible with the formula-
tion of U.S. foreign pelley m accordance with U.S: netmnel rather*

“than private interests.. .
~ We hold no brief for Pre81dent Allende S deelslen in eﬁeet to

ezprepma,te the . property of U.S. owned corporations W1theut ade-
quate. compensation. On. the contrary, we. condemn 1t. There should
be no '‘doubt. in - anyone’s mind that this Subcommittee does not
countenance. the taking of the property of U.S. nationals without the
payment -of reasenable compensation.. We consider that realistic
negotiations, in good faith, over the amount of compensation: to be
paid. for expmprmted prepeltles are essential to the maintenance of
a he&lth};r and constructive. relatmnshlp between .the United States
and: countrles in which dlsputes arise over the pr Opelty interests of'
U.S. -owned corperatlens | | | -

wa OPI 0 Guarantee

- The Overseas Private Investment Corporetmn (OPIC) ha,d a eom-a‘
m1tment in Chile of close to $500 million in investment guarantees.
against ‘expropriation issued to American corporations with invest- -
ments in that country. As previously noted, ITT’s total investment in: -
Chile amounted to & book value of $160 million of which approxi-
mately $100 ‘million' was covered by exprepmetlon O'mentees, thus,. |
neerlv two-thirds of ITT’s total property interest in Chile was cov-
ered. Other large holders of such policies were the major U.S. -—ewned
copper ¢companies: Anaconda; Kennecott, and Cerro de Pasco.

The existence of OPIC erantees did not deter ITT from seekmg‘? "
to influence the U.S. Gevernment to intervene in the Chilean electlons:
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'so as to preserve its property interests. On the contrary, the existence
of the OPIC guarantees was used by McCone in his conversations
- with Helms as an argument, among others, for U.S. intervention in
. Chile: if OPIC had to compensate the companies under the guarantees,
' 30 the argument went, the cost would ultimately be borne by the U.sS.
taxpayer, since OPIC lacked adequate reserves to meet these poten-

i tial liabilities. _ }

- Similarly, Ambassador Korry testified that in his post-September 4
election assessment for the Department of State, in which he noted
that an Allende Government would not be in the U.S. national inter-
est, he, too, used as one reason the potential cost to the U.S. taxpayer
resulting from the OPIC exposure. Thus, at least in the case of Chile,
OPIC 1nsurance became an argument for American intervention “to
protect the taxpayer.” : |
- The Stubcommittee believes that this effect of OPIC insurance was
not foreseen at the time the program was enacted. This issue, among
others, will be considered in the Subcommittee’s hearings on QPIC.

U.S. G 0_@:@?;??;?516-?36 Policy

. Mr. Broe arranged to meet with Mr. Gerrity in the I'T'T Headquar-
/ters 11 New York City on September 29, 1970. At that meeting Mr.
| Broe proposed a plan to Mr. Gerrity designed to create or accelerate
economic chaos 1 Chile for the purpose of putting pressure on a

y number ot Christian Democratic Congressmen to vote against Allende.

-Mr. Broe met with Mr. Gerrity and made his proposal with the ex-
' press approval of Helms, the Director of the CTA. i
Assistant Secretary of State Meyer attempted to explain Mr. Broe’s
proposal as merely an exploration of the feasibility of a possible
policy option in connection with Chile which, he maintained, did not
i 1tself constitute a change in policy. This explanation of Mr. Broe’s
proposal is weak. Even if we were to accept Mr. Meyer’s theory that
Mr. Broe’s proposal was exploratory in nature, such an exploration,
m and of 1tself, would indicate a major change in U.S. policy wis
under active consideration. Mr. Meyer testified that the pre-Septem-
ber 4 policy of the U.S. Government was to consider the popular
election as an internal Chilean matter, which was to be allowed to
run 1ts course without interference from the United States. A decision
actively to explore the feasibility of intervening in the Chilean elec-
toral process so as to affect the outcome of the Chilean Congressional
election of October 24 and deny Dr. Allende the presidency cannot
be reconciled with this pre-September 4 policy, as stated to the Com-
mittee.: On its face, Broe’s proposal to Gerri%y was a plan of action
for specific concrete acts—stopping shipment of spare parts, cutting
off - credits, slowing down. payments-—-and was so understood . by
Gerrity. e S s i G e
The record of the hearings calls into question the Administration’s
Sj;a.-t-e_d pohqy that 1t was willing to live with a “commimity'{')f diver-
sity m Latin America: we deal with governments as they are. Qur
relations depend not on their internal structures or social systems, but
on acts which affect us in the inter-American systeni.” (uU.s. FORETGN
POLICY FOR THE 19708, A REPORT TO THE CONGRESS by Richard Nixon,
President of the United States, February 23, 1971, page 53.) A com-
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-_mltr:mm to this policy would have been more convincingly evldenced
by a willingness on the part of the State Department fully to disclose
the COHtGIlt of the instructions W ]11(::11 Were (:ommumoated to the U S

Emb&s Sy 1n ,.Santmgo

'T?ze Fam‘y Comamnittee, OZcmdeséme 0 pem:tw%s 0 f the O[ A fzmd M ultz—l
national m"pm“@zﬁwm

The “Forty Committee” 1s the colloqmal demgnatmn ta,ken from
the serial numbel of the National Security Council document creating
1t, for the Interdepartmental group within the executive branch
thh reviews clandestine operations of the CIA. The group is
chaired by the Special Assistant to the President for National
Security Aﬁ"ul s, Dr. Kissinger, and its members include the Deputy
Secretaly of Defense, the Under Secretary. of State, the Dnector ef
Central Intelligence, and usually the Attorney (yeneral. R

There are questmns of concern in connection with the opera,tmns of
the “X orty Committee” which bear dir ectly upon this case. With what
detail are instructions of the “Forty Committee” communicated to the
CIA? Is the “Forty Committee” informed in advance of the modali-
‘ties which the Agency contemplates using in carrying out an aSSIgn-
ment ¢ Specifically, in this case, was it informed by the CIA ‘that in
carrying out a mandate to explore’ means of 111ﬂuencm the political
situation in Chile, use of U.S. companies was contemp%ated and spe-
cific proposals were being made to a partlcular corporation? Was the
benefit to:be potentially o‘uned welghed against its overall negative
consequences for U.S. busmess abroad by the “Forty Committee.” Or
was Helms merely given a general mdlcatlon of what was deswed to
be implemented as he saw fit? - o o]

It 1s clear from this case that there were mgmﬁcant adve.rse conse-
queuces for U.S. corporations which arose out of the decision to use
ITT in the way it was used—willing as ITT may have been—and that
1t was not in the best interests of the U.S. business community for the
CIA to attempt to use a U S Gorpomtwn to mﬂuence the polltlca]
situation in Chile.

There are further canmderatwng which arise. Dld the “Forty Cam-- ,
mittee”. consider the consequences which ‘would have erisued in the
event that the plan to create or accelerate’ economic chaosin Chile had
been successful? It had been the custom in-Chile for the Congress to
confirm as president the winner of a plurality in the popular election.
There was ample evidence that an attempt to interfere with this cus-
tom would have lead to bloodshed, and possibly, civil war. (Appendlx
11.) There were also substantial doubts with' respect to the capacity
of the Chilean military to cope with this situation. (Appendix IT.)
Did the members of the “Forty Committee” adequately consider the
possibility that, once having launched the U.S. down the road of
covert mterventlon, other, more direct, measures might have become

necessary. to msure the desired result stoppmg Allende fr()m becommg
President of Chile?

The Subcommittee thinks the tlme 18 ripe for an in-depth review

by the appropriate congressional committees, of the decisionmak-

Ing process m the aufbemz‘ltlon and conduct, Q;f CIA cla,ndestme
oper ations. . |
. ke





